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Because the defendant was charged in an indictment with violations of federal criminal law, the district court had subject matter
jurisdiction over the case pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 3231.

II. Appellate Jurisdiction

Based upon the timely filing of a notice of appeal from the order of judgment in a criminal case entered on March 6, 2020, this
Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. § 1291.

*2  STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1. Was the evidence insufficient, under the plain error standard, for a rational jury to find that the defendant's false statement
was material?

2. Has the government rebutted the presumption that the defendant was prejudiced by the constructive amendment of the
indictment, to which he did not object?

*3  STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Procedural History

On June 27, 2019, a grand jury in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania returned an indictment charging defendant Joseph
R. Johnson, Jr., with one count of knowingly and willfully making materially false, fraudulent, and fictitious statements and
representations and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1001 and 2 (Count One), and one count of knowingly and
without lawful authority using a means of identification during and in relation to the false statements charged in Count One,
and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1028(A)(1) and (c)(4) and 18 U.S.C. § 2 (Count Two)

Trial began on November 12, 2019, and concluded on November 14, 2019, with the jury's verdict finding the defendant guilty
on both counts. The defendant filed a Motion for Judgment of Acquittal and for New Trial pursuant to Rules 29 and 33 of the
Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, and a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Jurisdiction and for Arrest of Judgment, pursuant
to Rule 34, both of which the district court denied.

On February 28, 2020, the district court sentenced the defendant to a total of 32 months' imprisonment, three years' supervised
release, and a $200 special assessment. The defendant filed a timely notice of appeal.

*4  II. Statement of Facts

The criminal conduct in this case took place in the context of civil litigation arising from Andrea Constand's allegations that

she was sexually assaulted by well-known actor and comedian William “Bill” Cosby, Jr. 1  On March 8, 2005, Constand filed
a lawsuit against Cosby in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, alleging assault, battery, intentional infliction of emotional
distress, defamation, and invasion of privacy. The lawsuit was docketed as Civil Action 05-cv-1099 and assigned to the
Honorable Eduardo Robreno. On February 1, 2006, Constand filed a lawsuit in the Eastern District of Pennsylvania against
Martin D. Singer and The National Enquirer, alleging defamation and invasion of privacy. The lawsuit was docketed as Civil
Action 06-cv-483, and was assigned to Judge Robreno. On October 26, 2015, Constand filed a lawsuit in the Eastern District
of Pennsylvania against Bruce Castor, alleging defamation and invasion of privacy. That lawsuit was docketed as Civil Action
15-cv-5799 and was assigned to Judge Robreno. In all three lawsuits, Constand was represented by Dolores Troiani, Esquire.
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When Troiani filed the complaint against Castor, she inadvertently omitted to attach a document to the complaint. That
document, labeled *5  Exhibit A, was a copy of a press release issued by Castor. The following day, October 27, 2015, Troiani
filed a document entitled “Praecipe to Attach Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Complaint,” which attached the Castor press release as
Exhibit A. Both the Praecipe and the certificate of service bore Troiani's handwritten signature.

On January 3, 2016, Troiani received three emails from an individual identifying himself as “Tre Anthony,” using the email
address devoutplayerhater @yahoo.com. The first email, sent at 8:50 a.m., stated:

Please be advised that within the next several weeks your client's physical street address located in Toronto (and else where)
[sic] will be released to the media and published online unless you notify the undersigned of your objection to the same no later
than the close of business on January 4, 2015.

App. 362. Residential addresses associated with Constand and Dean Constand, a presumed family member, were included in
the email. Troiani then received a second email, which was sent at 1:49 p.m. to Troiani and several other attorneys, most of
whom were associated with the civil litigation. That email stated, “the following information will be made public through all
media outlets and social media.” It included the information from the first email and a list of a number of other alleged victims
of Cosby, each with brief comments regarding their “false and fraudulent” allegations against him. App. 367-75.

*6  The third email, sent at 4:33 p.m., to Troiani, various other attorneys, the New York Times, and others, added a narrative
to the content of the previous two emails, questioning the veracity of the claims against Cosby that had been made by Constand
and by Chloe Goins, another individual who alleged that she was assaulted by Cosby. Goins had filed suit against Cosby in
October 2015. The sender of the e-mail stated:

The name, physical address and telephone number of each of the Plaintiffs. will be circulated on social media as well as through
media outlets for an opportunity to obtain interviews about the false and fraudulent nature of their claims against Cosby.

App. 377-78. Among several attachments included with the “devoutplayerhater” emails was a document totaling 50 pages. It
included an IRS “Information Referral” Form 3949A, intended to be used “to report suspected tax law violations by a person or
business” to the IRS. The form, which was not signed, alleged that Constand had failed to report income resulting from “baseless
lawsuits” premised “on a decade old campaign of filing multiple lawsuits against multiple people throughout the United States
based on false allegations ranging from rape to defamation.” App. 371-73. Copies of the complaints in Constand v. Castor,
Constand v. Singer and The National Enquirer, and Constand v. Cosby, were attached. App. 373-74, 379.

*7  On February 1, 2016, an unknown individual hand-delivered an envelope to the Clerk of the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania on the second floor of the United States Courthouse in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.
App. 400-02. The envelope contained a copy of the “Praecipe to Attach Exhibit A to Plaintiff's Complaint” that Troiani had
filed in Constand v. Castor on October 27, 2015, complete with its certificate of service. However, the “Exhibit A” attached
to the “Praecipe” was not the Castor press release attached to Troiani's October 2015 filing. Instead, the exhibit was a copy
of the IRS referral form and the three civil complaints that “devoutplayerhater” emailed to Troiani and others on January 3,
2016. App. 911-64.

On February 1, 2016, after the documents were electronically filed by the clerk's office, Troiani received a routine email
notification from PACER confirming the filing. App. 413-14. The “Praecipe” and its attachments were included on the docket as
Filing #6. When Troiani received the notification, the court was closed for the day. As soon as the court opened on the following
day, Troiani notified the court that she had not submitted the document for filing, nor had she authorized its submission. App.
425.



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Appellee, v. Joseph R...., 2021 WL 734803 (2021)

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 5

On being informed that the document had been falsely filed under Troiani's name, Judge Robreno struck the false “Praecipe”
and its *8  attachments from the record, noting, “this filing is fraudulent and was not filed by the attorney whose purported
signature appears on the document.” App. 450-52 (Filing #7).

The matter was referred to the Federal Bureau of Investigation. By examining business records of the relevant entities, agents
determined that the “devoutplayerhater@yahoo.com” email address was established on August 15, 2015, and was deactivated
by the user on February 2, 2016, the day after the filing of the fraudulent documents in Constand v. Castor. App. 460-63. The
person who established the Yahoo account used an Internet Protocol (“IP”) address owned by Verizon, whose records showed
that the user's subscriber name was “jjohnson531 @dslextreme.com.” App. 468-69, Verizon had leased that IP address to a third-
party Internet Service Provider (“ISP”) called IKANO d/b/a DSL Extreme. App. 470. The records of DSL Extreme showed that
the IP address in question was associated with a customer named Joe Johnson. When the DSL Extreme account was opened,
Joe Johnson's listed address was 2600 Brinkley Road, Fort Washington, Maryland 20744. Subsequently, he changed the mailing
address for the account to P.O. Box 441572, Fort Washington, Maryland 20749. Johnson's username was “jjohnson531” and he
provided the alternate email address of “jjohnson531 @gmail.com.” App. 473-76.

*9  Documents from the United States Postal Service showed that Post Office Box 441572 was opened in April 2013 by a
person who provided the residential address of 2600 Brinkley Road, #611, Fort Washington, MD 20744. He also provided the
numbers of his Maryland driver's license and his voter registration card, his Google email address, and his telephone number.
App. 331-34.

Records from Maryland's Department of Motor Vehicles identified the holder of the driver's license provided to DSL Extreme
as Joe Johnson of 2600 Brinkley Road, #611, Fort Washington, MD XX/XX/44. Johnson's date of birth was XX/XX/, a likely
source of the “531” used in the email addresses. The photograph in Johnson's DMV records was that of the defendant. App.
291-93.

An Internet search of the defendant's “Devoutplayerhater” username revealed posts in which the defendant expressed a belief
that black men had been victimized by race-based injustices visited upon them by prejudiced law enforcement officers and
others. The defendant commented on several well-publicized killings of black men and discussed obtaining and publicizing the
killers' home addresses, suggesting that someone should “go rattle their cage.” In addition, the defendant expressed a belief that
Bill *10  Cosby was being wrongfully accused of sexual assault by a bevy of lying women. App. 279-80, 283-87.

In an unrelated internet post, Devoutplayerhater asked how to bleed the power steering of a 2001 Honda Accord EX V6
automobile. Automobile registration documents showed that Johnson owned a 2001 Honda Accord. App. 287-88.

Records obtained from the PACER Service Center showed that Joe Johnson, username”jjohnson531,” had a PACER account
that allowed him to search, view, and download public documents, but did not enable him to file documents electronically
through the Electronic Court Filing (ECF) function. App. 495. Johnson's PACER records showed that he had accessed the
Constand v. Castor docket (Civil No. 15-cv-5799) and had viewed the October 27, 2015, “Praecipe” document that was used

in the fraudulent filing. 2  App. 504-06. PACER records showed that Johnson viewed the Castor docket on January 3, 2016, the
date that “Devoutplayerhater” sent the emails to Troiani and others, and again on January 25, 2016. Id. On February 2, 2016,
the day after the fraudulent submission, Johnson accessed Judge Robreno's order striking the fraudulent filing from the *11

docket. App. 517. That day, Johnson deactivated his “devoutplayerhater” Yahoo! e-mail account. 3

When he accessed PACER on February 2, 2016, the defendant used an IP address owned by his employer, Alion Science &
Technology. App. 520, 540-41, 552-59. Alion records confirmed that the defendant's employee profile at Alion was used to
access the pacer.gov domain using that IP address (205.167.170.19) at the specific time that Judge Robreno's order striking
the fraudulent filing was viewed.
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Alion also provided records of the defendant's web browsing using his company computer. From January 1, 2016, through
March 31, 2016, the defendant's internet history on his work computer revealed use of the key word “Cosby” a total of 9,322
times, and use of the key word “Constand” a total of 933 times. App. 631-32.

On February 1, 2018, FBI special agents conducted an informal interview of the defendant in the lobby of his apartment
building. The defendant denied ever emailing the attorney for Andrea Constand and denied ever using the online username
“devoutplayerhater” or the email address devoutplayerhater@yahoo.com. He claimed that his PACER *12  account had been
compromised approximately two years before the interview. App. 575-81. However, PACER personnel told the agents that prior
to February 1, 2018, no one ever reported that the defendant's PACER account had been compromised.

The FBI agents sent the originals of the fraudulent filing, including the envelope in which it was delivered, to the FBI's lab
at Quantico, Virginia, for analysis. An FBI forensic analyst identified several fingerprints of the defendant on the envelope,
including one on the adhesive side of the tape used to seal the envelope. App. 649-58.

*13  STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES

Other than the Constand v. Cosby, Constand v. Singer and The National Enquirer, and Constand v. Castor cases identified in
the Statement of Facts, the government is not aware of any other related case or proceeding that is completed, pending, or about
to be presented before this Court or any other court or agency, state or federal.

*14  SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The evidence was sufficient for a rational jury to find that the defendant's false statement was material. Count One of the
indictment charged the defendant with falsely representing that a document filed in a civil case in the United States District Court
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania was filed by the plaintiff's attorney, Dolores Troiani, when the defendant, not Attorney
Troiani, had caused it to be filed. The misrepresentation of the filer's identity was material because by misrepresenting that the
document was being filed by a party to the lawsuit, rather than a total stranger to the litigation, it enabled the document to be
filed. The filing incorporated allegedly private information and scurrilous accusations against the plaintiff which the defendant
had previously threatened to make public. Had Ms. Troiani been less vigilant, the false document may have remained on the
docket long enough for a member of the press or public to see it and publicize its accusations.

2. The district court's mistaken instruction to the jury that the first element of the offense charged in Count One was that the
defendant “made or used a false document” constructively amended the indictment. Because the defendant failed to preserve
this issue (and in fact himself submitted a proposed instruction that included the challenged language), this Court's *15  review
is for plain error. Under that standard, this Court's finding of a constructive amendment creates a rebuttable presumption of
prejudice. The government has successfully rebutted that presumption. Government counsel made no argument based on the
erroneous instruction, and no evidence was submitted that could have pertained solely to the challenged “or used” part of the
instruction. On the facts of this case, the erroneous addition to the jury instruction did not broaden the basis for conviction. The
defendant suffered no prejudice from the error.

*16  ARGUMENT

I. THE JURY'S FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANT'S FALSE STATEMENT WAS
MATERIAL WAS NOT IRRATIONAL, AND DID NOT CAUSE PLAIN ERROR

Standard of Review
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Because the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal did not challenge the materiality of his false statement, this Court's
review is for plain error. United States v. Gordon, 290 F.3d 539, 547 (3d Cir. 2002). Such a claim “is reviewed only for a manifest
miscarriage of justice - the record must be devoid of evidence of guilt or the evidence must be so tenuous that a conviction
is shocking.” United States v. Avants, 367 F.3d 433, 449 (5th Cir. 2004); United States v. Dill, 112 F. App'x 846, 847-48 (3d
Cir. 2004) (not precedential).

“A conviction based on insufficient evidence is plain error only if the verdict ‘constitutes a fundamental miscarriage of justice.’
” United States v. Thayer, 201 F.3d 214, 218-19 (3d Cir. 1999), quoting United States v. Barel, 939 F.2d 26, 37 (3d Cir. 1991).
Such an error requires a defendant to establish that “the trial judge and prosecutor were derelict in even permitting the jury to
deliberate.” United States v. Dill, 112 F. App'x at 848, quoting United States v. Wright-Barker, 784 F.2d 161, 171 (3d Cir. 1986).

*17  Even with respect to a preserved objection, the Court's review of the sufficiency of the evidence is “highly deferential.”
United States v. Caraballo-Rodriguez, 726 F.3d 418, 430 (3d Cir. 2013) (en banc). The question is whether, “after viewing the
evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of
the crime beyond a reasonable doubt.” Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 318-19 (1979) (emphasis in original). The reviewing
court “must be ever vigilant . . . not to usurp the role of the jury by weighing credibility and assigning weight to the evidence,
or by substituting [our] judgment for that of the jury.” Caraballo-Rodriguez, 726 F.3d at 430, quoting United States v. Brodie,
403 F.3d 123, 133 (3d Cir. 2005). “The district court - and we - are not to act as a thirteenth juror. Instead, the jury's verdict
must be assessed from the perspective of a reasonable juror, and the verdict must be upheld as long as it does not ‘fall below the
threshold of bare rationality.’ ” Caraballo-Rodriguez, 726 F.3d at 431, quoting Coleman v. Johnson, 566 U.S. 650, 656 (2012).
See also Cavazos v. Smith, 565 U.S. 1, 7 (2011) (“A reviewing court may set aside the jury's verdict on the ground of insufficient
evidence only if no rational trier of fact could have agreed with the jury.”). Under the ordinary standard of review, “[u]nless the
jury's *18  conclusion is irrational, it must be upheld.” Caraballo-Rodriguez, 726 F.3d at 431.

Discussion

Defendant/appellant Joseph R. Johnson, Jr. asserts that the evidence was insufficient to support the jury's finding that the
defendant's false statement was material. He is wrong.

Johnson claims, incorrectly, that he preserved this argument by raising it in his motion for judgment of acquittal. Br. 3. He did
not. His oral motion for acquittal at the close of the government's evidence identified only the issue of whether the evidence was
sufficient to prove that he had caused the false statement to be filed. App. 681. With respect to the sufficiency of the evidence,
his post-trial written motion argued only that “[t]he government did not meet their burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt
with respect to all counts that Joe Johnson had actual knowledge, specific intent, or the ability to cause another to deliver

the documents at issue in the trial.” 4  App. 765 (proposed order), 772-74 (arguing failure to prove intent requirement and to
prove aiding and abetting). Neither orally nor in writing did Johnson contend that the false statement was not *19  material.
Accordingly, Johnson has failed to preserve that argument, and his claim may be reviewed only for plain error.

Johnson likewise did not argue to the jury that the statement was not material. In other words, he wants this Court to reverse
his conviction based on a theory that it appears his experienced trial counsel did not believe would be persuasive to the trier
of fact that heard the case.

It is the defendant's burden to establish plain error. United States v. Olano, 507 U.S. 725, 734-35 (1993). To do so, he must
prove that (1) the court erred; (2) the error was obvious under the law at the time of review; and (3) the error affected substantial
rights, that is, the error affected the outcome of the proceedings. Johnson v. United States, 520 U.S. 461, 467 (1997). If all
three elements are established, the Court may, but need not, exercise its discretion to award relief. Id. That discretion should
be exercised only in cases where the defendant is “actually innocent” or the error “ ‘seriously affect[s] the fairness, integrity
or public reputation of judicial proceedings.’ ” Olano, 507 U.S. at 736, quoting United States v. Atkinson, 297 U.S. 157, 160
(1936). The “plain-error exception to the contemporaneous-objection rule is to be ‘used sparingly, solely in those circumstances
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in which a miscarriage of justice would otherwise result.’ ” *20  United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 15 (1985), quoting United
States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 163 n.14 (1982).

As Count One of the Indictment made clear, the false statement at issue is Johnson's misrepresentation that the February 6,
2019, “Praecipe” and its attachments were filed by Andrea Constand's attorney Dolores Troiani. In relevant part, the Indictment
alleges:

[D]efendant JOSEPH R. JOHNSON, JR., in a fraudulent filing in a civil case pending before the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania, falsely represented and aided and abetted the
false representation that the fraudulent filing had been made by the plaintiff's counsel D.T., when, as the
defendant then knew, D.T. had not made the fraudulent filing, but rather the fraudulent filing was made by
and at the direction of the defendant.

App. 22-23. Johnson does not dispute that the evidence supported this charge. He claims only that his falsehood was not material.

The identity of a person filing a document in federal court matters. Not every random stranger who has an opinion about a
lawsuit is entitled to put his oar in; the right to participate in a lawsuit is limited to parties and in appropriate circumstances, other
persons or entities who have a cognizable legal interest in the case. Fed. R. Civ. P. 24 (setting out requirements for intervention);
see, e.g., McClune v. Shamah, 593 F.2d 482, 486 (3d Cir. 1979) (holding that district court did not err in denying motion to
intervene in lawsuit). “A nonparty cannot inject himself into a *21  case without intervening . . . unless the judgment ‘concludes
the rights of the affected person, who cannot litigate the issue in some other forum.’ ” In re Bergeron, 636 F.3d 882, 883 (7th
Cir. 2011), quoting SEC v. Enterprise Trust Co., 559 F.3d 649, 651 (7th Cir. 2009), and citing Marino v. Ortiz, 484 U.S. 301,
304 (1988) (per curiam). Johnson had no legally cognizable interest in Constand v. Castor. He had no right to file anything in
that case. Only by falsely representing the bogus filing as being made by a party to the lawsuit could Johnson hope to prevent
it from being promptly struck from the docket - as in fact happened - if it was docketed at all. Johnson's misrepresentation of
the identity of the filer was more than material; it was crucial to his scheme to get the document on the docket.

Moreover, the signature of the person filing a document carries weight. Rule 11(a) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure
requires every filing to be signed by the filer and state the filer's contact information. It provides that “[t]he court must strike an
unsigned paper unless the omission is promptly corrected after being called to the attorney's or party's attention.” Under Rule 11,
the filer's signature is not merely a matter of form. It has meaning. It is an averment that the document is presented for a proper
purpose, that it is supported by the law, and that the factual allegations or denials are supported by evidence. As Rule 11(b) states:

*22  (b) REPRESENTATIONS TO THE COURT. By presenting to the court a pleading, written motion,
or other paper--whether by signing, filing, submitting, or later advocating it--an attorney or unrepresented
party certifies that to the best of the person's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry
reasonable under the circumstances: (1) it is not being presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass,
cause unnecessary delay, or needlessly increase the cost of litigation; (2) the claims, defenses, and other
legal contentions are warranted by existing law or by a nonfrivolous argument for extending, modifying, or
reversing existing law or for establishing new law; (3) the factual contentions have evidentiary support or,
if specifically so identified, will likely have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further
investigation or discovery; and (4) the denials of factual contentions are warranted on the evidence or, if
specifically so identified, are reasonably based on belief or a lack of information.



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, Appellee, v. Joseph R...., 2021 WL 734803 (2021)

 © 2021 Thomson Reuters. No claim to original U.S. Government Works. 9

If the court finds that a party or attorney signed a filing that did not meet these requirements, the court may impose sanctions
on the filer. Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(c).

The Supreme Court has recognized the importance of the signature requirement to the functioning of the United States Courts:
[T]he central purpose of Rule 11 is to deter baseless filings in district court and thus, consistent with the Rules Enabling Act's
grant of authority, streamline the administration and procedure of the federal courts. See Advisory Committee Note on Rule
11, 28 U.S.C. App., p. 576. Rule 11 imposes a duty on attorneys to certify that they have conducted a reasonable inquiry and
have determined that any papers filed with the court are well grounded in fact, legally tenable, and “not interposed for any
improper purpose.” An attorney who signs the paper without such a substantiated belief “shall” be penalized by “an appropriate
sanction.” Such a sanction may, but need not, include payment of the other parties' expenses. See ibid. Although the Rule must
be read in light of concerns that it will spawn satellite litigation *23  and chill vigorous advocacy, ibid., any interpretation must
give effect to the Rule's central goal of deterrence.

Cooter & Gell v. Hartmarx Corp., 496 U.S. 384, 393 (1990). See also Business Guides, Inc. v. Chromatic Comm. Enterprises,
Inc., 498 U.S. 533, 552 (1991) ( “There is little doubt that Rule 11 is reasonably necessary to maintain the integrity of the system
of federal practice and procedure. . . .”). In essence, the Rule exists to keep the wheels of justice from getting mired down with
irrelevant, ill-founded, and malicious filings like the documents the defendant filed in this case. See Zocaras v. Castro, 465 F.3d
479, 484 (11th Cir. 2006) (dismissing case with prejudice for filing under a false name; observing that “[p]ermitting the plaintiff
to pursue his claim would take the punch out of the punishment for pummeling the probity of the judicial system.); Dotson v.
Bravo, 321 F.3d 663, 668 (7th Cir. 2003) (“[f]iling a case under a false name deliberately, and without sufficient justification,
certainly qualifies as flagrant contempt for the judicial process and amounts to behavior that transcends the interests of the parties
in the underlying action”; it is conduct that “so violates the judicial process that imposition of a harsh penalty is appropriate not
only to reprimand the offender, but also to deter future parties from trampling upon the integrity of the court.”).

*24  To be material, a statement must have “a natural tendency to influence, or [be] capable of influencing, the decision of the
decisionmaking body to which it was addressed.” Kungys v. United States, 485 U.S. 759, 770 (1988) (internal quotation marks
omitted). See also United States v. Gaudin, 515 U.S. 506, 509 (1995). The decisionmaking body in this case was the district
court. That Johnson's false representation - that the “Praecipe” and its attachments were being filed by the plaintiff's counsel,
not by a nonparty with no connection to the case -was capable of influencing the decision of the court is obvious from the fact
that, on learning that it had not really been filed by plaintiff's counsel, the district court promptly struck the filing from the
docket. If the identity of the filer had been immaterial to the court, the court would not have struck the filing. Judge Robreno
testified that he was informed that Troiani had not filed the “Praecipe” and its attachments, and that he struck it on that basis,
without having read its contents. It could not be clearer that the identity of the filer was the key factor in the judge's decision
to strike the document. Thus, the defendant's misrepresentation of his identity was the misrepresentation of a fact material to
the court's decision.

Therefore, the district court did not commit plain error in denying the defendant's motion for judgment of acquittal.

*25  In his new argument on appeal, Johnson endeavors to broaden the allegation of the indictment, suggesting that the
government was required to prove more than that he filed a document with a false representation of identity, but that the
document was further capable of influencing the court in its resolution of the litigation. He then contends that, absent further
evidence about the judge's consideration of the lawsuit and the possible impact of this filing, the trial evidence was insufficient.

But that claim plainly is not faithful to the actual allegation of the indictment. Johnson was charged with falsely representing
that the filing had been made by attorney Troiani. The evidence established that only the attorney could make such a filing,
such that the judge struck the filing upon learning that the attorney had not made it. This evidence established that the false
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representation was material - it had the capacity to influence the court to accept a filing. No further showing was required. On
this record, the jury did not commit a miscarriage of justice in returning a guilty verdict.

*26  II. THE GOVERNMENT HAS REBUTTED THE PRESUMPTION THAT THE DEFENDANT
WAS PREJUDICED BY THE CONSTRUCTIVE AMENDMENT OF THE INDICTMENT

Standard of Review

Because the defendant did not preserve his objection to the district court's instruction, this Court's review is for plain error.

Discussion

Johnson argues that the district court's jury instruction on the elements of Section 1001 constructively amended the indictment.
The district court's instruction was in error; however, the erroneous instruction did not prejudice the defendant.

Johnson asserts that the district court caused a constructive amendment by instructing the jury that the first element of a Section
1001 violation was that the defendant “made or used” a false document. App. 749. Johnson did not preserve his objection to
the jury instruction, and therefore his argument is reviewable only for plain error.

Before trial, the government filed proposed jury instructions that included an instruction stating that the first element that
the jury must find is that the defendant made or used a false writing or document. App. 56. Johnson objected, asserting that
the requested instruction would create a *27  constructive amendment of the indictment. Johnson proposed an alternative
instruction; however, his proposed instruction included the very same language that he challenged in the government's proposed
instruction. In relevant part, Johnson's proposed instruction states:
The Defendant can be found guilty of this crime only if all the following facts are proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) the Defendant [made the statement], as charged;

(. . .)

(5) the [false statement] was made or used for a matter within the jurisdiction of a department or agency of the United States.

App. 90 (emphasis added). 5

At the close of the evidence, Johnson's counsel requested a sidebar conference, at which he told the judge that he wanted “to
put my objection on the record.” He did not say what objection he intended to raise. The district court advised Johnson that
objections to the charge should be made  *28  at the conclusion of the charge. App. 731. The court instructed the jury as noted
above. At the end of the charge, defense counsel objected to the court's failure to give the defense's requested alibi instruction.
When the court overruled that objection, counsel said, “All right. That's it. Thank you.” Defense counsel did not object to the
“makes or uses” language in the Section 1001 elements instruction. App. 757-58.

Rule 30(d) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:
(d) Objections to Instructions. A party who objects to any portion of the instructions or to a failure to give a requested
instruction must inform the court of the specific objection and the grounds for the objection before the jury retires to deliberate.
An opportunity must be given to object out of the jury's hearing and, on request, out of the jury's presence. Failure to object in
accordance with this rule precludes appellate review, except as permitted under Rule 52(b).
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“The manifest purpose of the rule is to avoid whenever possible the necessity of a time-consuming new trial by providing the
trial judge with an opportunity to correct any mistakes in the charge.” United States v. Provenzano, 334 F.2d 678, 690 (3d Cir.
1964). “[C]ounsel is required to draw the court's attention to a specific instruction, or to a problem with an instruction, in order
to put the court on notice so that a possible error may be corrected before the jury begins to deliberate.” United States v. Davis,
183 F.3d 231, 252 (3d Cir.), amended, 197 F.3d 662 (3d Cir. 1999). “Without a clearly articulate objection, a trial court is not
sufficiently *29  apprised of the contested issue and the need to cure a potential error to avoid a new trial.” Government of the
Virgin Islands v. Knight, 989 F.2d 619, 631 (3d Cir. 1993).

As the Supreme Court has stated, “[a] party generally may not assign error to a jury instruction if he fails to object before the
jury retires or to ‘stat[e] distinctly the matter to which that party objects and the grounds of the objection.’ ” Jones v. United
States, 527 U.S. 373, 387 (1999) (citation omitted). In Jones, the Supreme Court held that “a request for an instruction before
the jury retires [does not] preserve an objection to the instruction actually given by the court,” as “[s]uch a rule would contradict
Rule 30's mandate that a party state distinctly his grounds for objection.” Id. at 388; see also United States v. Jake, 281 F.3d
123, 131-32 (3d Cir. 2002); United States v. Pelullo, 399 F.3d 197, 221 (3d Cir. 2005) (defendant's submission of a proposed
instruction did not preserve objection to district court's charge.).

Here, Johnson submitted a document that, on the same page, objected to the government's proposed instruction using the terms
“makes or uses,” and proposed a defense instruction using the same terms. App. 90. Johnson's submission did not explain
the apparent contradiction between his objection and his proposed instruction. The district court did *30  not hold a charge
conference; nothing in the record suggests that this inconsistency was discussed with the court. The district court did not issue
any written order resolving Johnson's objections to the government's proposed charge.

Johnson's counsel did not object to the “makes or uses” instruction at the end of the court's charge. Johnson may argue that he
relied on his (ambiguous and contradictory) written submission, and saw no need to repeat his objection. However, he chose to
reiterate his request for an alibi instruction, despite his stated understanding that the court had denied that request. Based on this
conduct, the district court could well have concluded that the defense found nothing objectionable in the charge other than the
absence of an alibi instruction. Johnson's contradictory filing and his failure to object to the Section 1001 elements instruction
were not sufficient to put the court on notice of the potential constructive amendment before the court caused that (alleged)
amendment. Accordingly, Johnson's claim should be reviewed only for plain error.

A constructive amendment occurs “where a defendant is deprived of his ‘substantial right to be tried only on charges presented
in an indictment returned by a grand jury.’ ” United States v. Syme, 276 F.3d 131, 148 (3d Cir. 2002), quoting United States
v. Miller, 471 U.S. 130, 140 (1985). “The key *31  inquiry is whether the defendant was convicted of the same conduct for
which he was indicted.” United States v. Daraio, 445 F.3d 253, 260 (3d Cir. 2006) (internal quotations omitted). An indictment
is constructively amended when the evidence, the jury instructions, or both modify essential terms of the charged offense in
such a way that there is a substantial likelihood that the jury convicted the defendant for an offense differing from the one
alleged in the indictment. Id.

Without a “clearly articulate” objection to the purported constructive amendment, Knight, 989 F.2d 619, 631, review is for plain
error, and the existence of prejudice is merely a rebuttable presumption. Syme, 276 F.3d at 154. The government may rebut the
presumption by showing that the error did not affect the outcome of the proceedings. Id.

In this case, it can be said with certainty that the use of the phrase “made or used,” as opposed to simply “made,” had no effect
whatsoever on the verdict. Notably, government counsel made no argument to the jury that turned on the word “used.” Counsel's
single reference to the “made or used” standard was a statement at the beginning of closing argument that he expected that the
court would instruct the jury “that with regard to false statements, that the Government must prove beyond a reasonable doubt
that the Defendant made or used a false document.” App. 702.
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*32  The evidence of the actus reus is undisputed; the parties agree that an unidentified individual delivered an envelope
containing the false praecipe to Stephen Gill, an employee of the clerk's office, who filed it on the docket of Constand v. Castor.
App. 400-02. The praecipe contained the false representation that the filing was requested by Constand's attorney. At trial,
Johnson denied that he had any role in causing the document to be filed. The jury found otherwise, and on appeal, Johnson does
not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence to support that finding.

Johnson argues that the meanings of “make” and “use” differ, asserting that “ ‘to make’ refers to creating, composing, or causing
something to exist,” making it a “significantly different (and narrower) verb” than “to use.” Br. 30. Johnson relies on the First
Circuit's decision in SEC v. Tambone, 597 F.3d 436, 443 (1st Cir. 2010) (en banc), which construed the terms under 17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5(b), prohibiting the making of false statements in buying or selling securities. Johnson also relies on Watson v. United
States, 552 U.S. 74, 79 n.7 (2007), in which the Supreme Court held that a defendant does not “use” a firearm in violation of

18 U.S.C. § 924(c) when he barters it for drugs. 6  Br. 30-31. Watson is of no *33  relevance to this case; neither the statute at
issue in Watson nor the facts of that case bear any resemblance to the issue here.

Johnson's other citations go even farther afield. United States v. Madden, 733 F.3d 1314, 1316 (11th Cir. 2013), and United
States v. Jenkins, 347 F. App'x 793, 795 (3d Cir. 2009) (not precedential), involve mix-ups between the “in furtherance of” and
“during and in relation to” elements of Section 924(c) offenses. In United States v. Phea, 953 F.3d 838 (5th Cir. 2020) (per
curiam), the district court erroneously added a phrase substantially lowering the mens rea for prostitution of a minor. Beyond
demonstrating that constructive amendments do sometimes occur, these cases have nothing to say here.

Johnson's citations do not illuminate the meanings of “make” and “use” as those words are used in Section 1001. Johnson
cites Tambone's statement that, at least in the context of Rule 10(b)(5) issues in securities litigation, “make” means “creating,
composing, or causing something to exist.” Of the thousands upon thousands of Section 1001 cases, however, Johnson cites no
case holding that “make” as used in that section requires proof that the defendant created the false statement.

In fact, if the word “make” in Section 1001 carried that meaning, it would be only more obvious that the addition of “or used”
had no effect on *34  the jury's verdict. The evidence in this case strongly supports a finding that Johnson created the document
that was filed with the court, rather than passing along a document that somebody else made. Johnson's PACER account was
used to access the original praecipe on the Castor docket. Johnson's “devoutplayerhater @yahoo.com” email account was used
to send the January 3, 2016, emails to Troiani and others, attaching the same documents that were attached to the false praecipe
and threatening to make them public. The e-mails were sent from Johnson's IP address. Johnson's fingerprint was found on
the inside of the tape sealing the envelope delivered to the district court. Therefore, if “make” in Section 1001 means that the
defendant must have originated the false statement, the evidence here supports a finding that the defendant “made” the false
statement, just as charged in the indictment.

Contrary to Johnson's argument, however, the act of filing a false document with a court or federal agency can constitute
“making” a false statement regardless of whether the filer created the false document. It has long been held that, under Section

1001, a false statement that is filed with a court or government agency is “made” when it is filed. 7  See, e.g., Travis v. *35
United States, 364 U.S. 631, 635 (1961) (offense of making a false statement under Section 1001 is completed when and where
document containing statement is filed); United States v. Valenti, 207 F.2d 242, 244 (3d Cir. 1953) (holding that false statement
is “made” within the meaning of Section 1001 when affidavit containing statement is filed); United States v. Tracy, 108 F.3d
473, 477 (2d Cir. 1997) (offense of making false statements was committed when defendant gave his attorney false affidavits,
which attorney then gave to an Assistant United States Attorney).

The Fifth Circuit's opinion in United States v. Guthartz, 573 F.2d 225 (5th Cir. 1978), likewise supports the position that
a defendant can make a false statement by submitting a document. Guthartz, the owner of apartments for the elderly and
handicapped financed by the Federal Housing Administration, requested authorization from the Department of Housing and
Urban Development for a rent increase based on the need to make repairs, including installation of a new fire alarm system. With
his letter, he enclosed an estimate from a contractor for installation of the fire *36  alarm. As Guthartz knew, the amount in the
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purported estimate was double what the installation would actually cost. Guthartz was charged with and convicted of making
a false statement, in violation of Section 1001. On appeal, he argued that there was a fatal variancebetween the indictment
and the proof adduced at trial, in that the indictment charged him with “making” a false statement but the proof showed the
“using” of false documents. 573 F.2d at 227-28. With “no great difficulty,” the Fifth Circuit found no variance between the
indictment and the proof:

When he sent his letter and the enclosed estimate to HUD he thereby made a false statement “by means of
a letter” as he was charged. A review of the entire record reflects that there is no question whatever of Mr.
Guthartz' not having been fully advised of the substance and, indeed, the details of the charged offense. He
was tried only on the charges presented in the indictment returned by the grand jury. To whatever degree
the disjunctive provisions of section 1001 may be distinguished, it is clear that no such distinction affected
the substantial rights of this accused.

573 F.2d at 228. As in Guthartz, the defendant in this case violated Section 1001 by making a false statement by means of a
document, as charged in the indictment. The erroneous inclusion of “use” in the jury instruction did not affect his substantial
rights.

*37  Citing the Eleventh Circuit's unpublished opinion in United States v. Gonzalez, 540 F. App'x 967 (11th Cir. 2014), Johnson
asserts that subsection (a)(3) of Section 1001 is necessarily “broader than subsection (a)(2) because it applies to using statements
as well as making them.” Br. 27. By careful editing, Johnson misrepresents the Gonzalez court's opinion. The court actually
said this:

[W]e do not agree that § 1001(a)(3) is rendered completely superfluous by our broader reading of § 1001(a)
(2). Under our interpretation of the statute, subsection (a)(3) is narrower in that it only applies to written
communications, while subsection (a)(2) applies to both oral and written communications. On the other
hand, subsection (a)(3) is in some sense broader than subsection (a)(2) because it applies to using statements
as well as making them.

540 F. App'x at 974. The Eleventh Circuit also disposes of the argument (also made by Johnson) that finding any overlap in
subsections (2) and (3) would impermissibly render statutory language superfluous. The Gonzalez Court said, “[t]he fact that
our interpretation means the subsections cover some overlapping conduct does not render either provision wholly superfluous in
the sense we are cautioned to avoid.” Id. The court cited the Supreme Court's observation in Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain
that “[r]edundancies across statutes are not unusual events in drafting, and so as long as there is no positive repugnancy between
two laws, a court must *38  give effect to both.” 503 U.S. 249, 253 (1992) (quotation marks and citation omitted).

Under a fair reading, it is inescapable that subsections (a)(2) (“making”) and (a)(3) (“using”) overlap. This case falls within the
area of overlap. All the evidence in the case could go toward showing a violation of either subsection. Nothing was presented
to the jury that would support a violation of subsection (a)(3) that would not also support a violation of subsection (a)(2). The
evidence showed that Johnson made a false statement when he filed the document under an attorney's name; to the extent he
“used” the false statement, the pertinent conduct was identical.
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Government counsel did not argue to the jury that it should convict on any basis that applied to subsection (a)(3) but not to
subsection (a)(2). Thus, the defendant cannot show that he was in any way prejudiced by the erroneous jury instruction. The
government has rebutted the presumption of prejudice, and the defendant's conviction should be affirmed.

*39  CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the government respectfully requests that the judgment of the district court be affirmed.
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Footnotes

1 This matter does not concern the criminal prosecution of Cosby. Neither Constand nor Cosby is a party or witness in
this matter.
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2 PACER records show which documents were accessed by an account holder, but do not show whether or not the user
downloaded the documents.

3 PACER records also showed that Johnson had accessed the complaint in the Constand v. Castor, Constand v. Cosby,
and Constand v. National Enquirer cases. App. 507-08.

4 On appeal, Johnson does not challenge the sufficiency of the evidence that he caused the false filing to be made.
5 Under the doctrine of invited error, Johnson's request for a jury instruction containing the same terms as the instruction

to which he now objects could be construed as a waiver of his right to object. Where “a defendant specifically requested
an instruction, then he invited any alleged error in it and waived the right to argue it was flawed on appeal.” United
States v. Ferriero, 866 F.3d 107, 118 (3d Cir. 2017), citing United States v. Andrews, 681 F.3d 509, 517 n.4 (3d Cir.
2012). See also United States v. Ozcelik, 527 F.3d 88, 97 (3d Cir. 2008) (where defendant made a joint request in favor
of jury instructions, under the invited error doctrine, he waived his right to challenge the instructions on appeal). In any
event, Johnson clearly is not entitled to relief on plain error review, as set forth above.

6 The Watson Court was not called upon to address the meaning of “make.”
7 Although venue is not at issue in this case, the fact that these are venue cases makes them more, rather than less, relevant.

Venue cases require the court to determine precisely when and where the criminal conduct occurred. See Fed. R. Crim.
P. 18 (offense must be prosecuted in a district where the offense occurred). The defendants in these cases were charged
with making false statements. These courts found that the false statements were made when the statements were filed.
Therefore, “made,” as used in Section 1001, cannot be limited to the “creating or bringing into existence” meaning
advocated by Johnson; it must include conduct such as that with which Johnson was charged in this case.
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